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————————————DESCR | BE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The German-English Academy is a large (79 f 8" x 136 f 4"), 3 1/2 story Late Picturesque 
building of wood frame construction with cream brick veneer„ Stone and terra 
cotta ornament of matching cream color enriches the facade. The building stands 
on an elevated basement of rusticated cream-colored limestone. It is composed of 
two hipped-roof masses, one for classrooms and one for the Turners' gymnasia. The 
two structures are connected by a narrow, recessed link of plain design.

The gymnasia wing features two arcades of three two-story-high, round-arched windows. 
On the side (north) facade the arcade is surrounded by plain brick, but the front 
(west) arcade is decorated with clusters of tiny supporting columns under foliate 
capitals, and elaborate floral spandrels and a cornice. On the third floor a floral 
scroll stringcourse supports two bands of sash windows flanking a stone name plaque. 
The cornice frieze consists of panels of more floral ornament. Tall decorative 
chimneys and a large hip-roofed dormer with five round-arched windows crown the 
composition.

The classroom wing features a projecting pavilion of Neo-Gothic design. Corner brick 
piers and a frieze of tiny arcades support a slightly projecting third story. Stone 
corner turrets rise above the piers and frame a parapet gable which features a 
diaper-patterned design around an arcade of three round-arched windows. Below these 
windows is another stone name plaque. The stringcourses and friezes of the gymnasia 
wing are repeated on the classroom wing. Bands of sash windows fill the remaining 
wall area.

Whereas the exterior is largely unaltered, the interior has twice undergone extensive 
alterations, once when the building was converted into a furniture store in 1930 
and once more in 1933 when it was converted back into a school.
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The architectural firm of Charles D. Crane and Carl C. Barkhausen designed many public 
buildings, private residences and churches in Milwaukee from about 1890 to 1902. Bark­ 
hausen attended the German-English Academy as a child and received his architectural 
training in Germany. 1 Zimmerman calls the style of similar buildings by the firm "German 
New Renaissance,"^ a term which is most likely appropriate for the German-English Academy 
too.

At mid-nineteenth century, a group of Milwaukee's German-American citizens, dissatisfied 
with the offerings of the public schools, formed their own educational association, the 
Milwaukee Schulverein (1851). Good citizens of their newly adopted country, yet con­ 
cerned about preserving their German heritage, Milwaukee 1 s "Forty-eighters," exiles of the 
German revolution, "were among the prime movers in the organization of the...Schulverein," 
which was "designed to provide instruction in German and a kind of education not then 
available in either the public or private American schools or in the German Catholic paro­ 
chial schools."^ The Schulverein "founded the German-English Academy shortly thereafter 
and secured another exile of the revolution, Peter Engelmann, as teacher...The pupils met 
at first at Engelmann's home; but enrollment soon made necessary a special building."

"...the German-English Academy served as a pace setter for education in Milwaukee from its 
beginning in 1851..." as Engelmann "introduced such innovations in a Milwaukee school as 
singing, drawing, gymnasium and domestic science classes. The school also offered the 
first kindergarten in Milwaukee [1873]."^ "Some of its methods were ultimately adopted in 
the city system. It was not long before German was taught in the public schools of the 
German wards; and in 1867 the school board made German a part of the course of instruction 
in the city system."6 Also, "by 1881, kindergarten education was provided in the city 
schools..."7

Although the city's adoption of kindergartens, courses in the German language, and other 
ideas from the German-English Academy tended to level off the Academy's enrollment, which 
had peaked as early as 1865, the school's success continued and the need for more space 
and better facilities grew. In 1891 the Academy was provided with one of the best school 
edifices in the city by Mrs. Elizabeth Pfister and her daughter, Mrs. Louisa Vogel, in 
memory of Guido Pfister.^ With the Milwaukee Turner Society they made an agreement where­ 
by the Turners would provide the money for half the building, provided that it house "the 
most up-to-date, fully equipped and fully approved gym(nasium) of its day."^ [This accounts 
for the stylistic differences between the southern (academy) wing and the northern (gym­ 
nasium) wing of the building which are noted in the description.] The building indeed 
included modern improvements to insure a thorough and broad education for both the body 
and mind. The school offered courses in both German and English, manual arts for boys, 
domestic science for girls, and physical education for both, in keeping with established 
Turner principles. It had a natural science museum and a physics and chemistry laboratory.
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"The Academy-trained teachers became the backbone of the public school system...In 1900, 
tlje. Superintendent of Schools credited 'Engelmann's School' with being the model for the 
public school system. By 1900, the German-English Academy had been saluted with gold 
medals at the great Chicago World's Fair, the Saint Louis Exposition and the Paris 
Exposition. In the age of the Darwinian Revolution, the G-E.A. pioneered 'free-thinking 
values' in education..." and... "saw its families through the hard World War I years 
when they made the painful decision to change their name, in spite of their proud German 
heritage, to Milwaukee University School."11.12

In 1927 the Milwaukee University School vacated the building on North Broadway and 
moved to another part of the city. The Academy building remained vacant until 1930, 
when it was converted to use as a furniture sales store. In 1933, the Milwaukee 
School of Engineering acquired the building, reconverted it to school use, and has 
occupied it continuously since that time.

The German-English Academy Building was designated an official Milwaukee Landmark in 
1973.

1. Gregory, History of Milwaukee, IV, 579
2. Zimmerman, The Heritage Guidebook, 87
3. Still, Milwaukee; The History of a City, 121-122
4. Ibid.
5. The Milwaukee Journal, March 10, 1965
6. Still, op, cit., 122
7. Still, op, cit., 414
8. Stearns, The Columbian History of Education in Wisconsin, 317
9. Stephens to Milwaukee Landmarks Commission

10. Stearns, ibid.
11. Stephens to Milwaukee Landmarks Commission
12. Still, p. 461, states that because of anti-German sentiment during World War I, 

the school gave up its name for the war's duration and became known as the 
Milwaukee Academy. Very soon, however, it adopted the permanent new name of 
Milwaukee University School.
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